
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS

DALLAS DIVISION

HERMAN SCOTT CONRAD, individually §
and on behalf of all others similarly situated, §

§
Plaintiff, § CASE NO. 3:10-cv-02196-M

§
v. § JUDGE BARBARA M.G. LYNN

§
FRANKLIN COLLECTION SERVICE, INC. § CLASS ACTION - JURY

§
Defendant. §

SECOND AMENDED CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT
Jury Trial Requested

TO THE HONORABLE JUDGE BARBARA M.G. LYNN:

Plaintiff Herman Scott Conrad (hereinafter “Plaintiff”) files this Second Amended Class

Action Complaint.  Plaintiff institutes the action in accordance with and to remedy violations by

Defendant Franklin Collection Services, Inc. of the Telephone Consumer Protection Act, 47

U.S.C.A. § 227 et seq. (hereinafter “TCPA”); the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act, 15

U.S.C.A.  1692, et seq. (hereinafter “FDCPA”); and the Texas Debt Collection Act, TEX. FIN.

CODE § 392.001, et seq.  (hereinafter “TDCA”).  Plaintiff brings this action individually and on

behalf of all other persons similarly situated (hereinafter “Class Members”) to recover damages

and to enjoin Defendant Franklin Collection Service, Inc.’s unlawful conduct as it affects all

others residing within the United States.

PARTIES  

1. Plaintiff Scott Conrad is a natural person who resides in Rockwall County, Texas and is a

“consumer” as defined by 15 U.S.C. §1692a(3) and TEX. FIN. CODE § 392.001(1).
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2. Defendant Franklin Collection Service, Inc. (hereinafter referred to as “FCSI”), is a

Mississippi corporation that is not registered with the Texas Secretary of State.  Its principal

place of business is in Tupelo, Mississippi 38801.  Defendant has been served and is a proper

party before this Court. 

3. All conditions precedent to the Plaintiff proceeding with this lawsuit have occurred. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

4. This matter in controversy exceeds $5,000,000.00, as each member of the proposed

TCPA Class of tens of thousands is entitled to up to $1,500.00 in statutory damages for each call

that has violated the TCPA.  Accordingly, this Court has jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C.A. §

1332(d)(2). Further, Plaintiff alleges a national class, which will result in at least one class

member belonging to a state different than the state in which the Defendant is deemed to reside. 

Therefore, both elements of diversity jurisdiction under the Class Action Fairness Act of 2005

(hereinafter “CAFA”) are present, and this Court has jurisdiction.  

5. Pursuant to 28 U.S.C.A. § 1367, Plaintiff and Class members invoke the supplemental

jurisdiction of this Court to hear and decide claims against the Defendant arising under state law. 

6. Venue in this District is appropriate under 28 U.S.C.A. §§ 1391 (b) and (c) and 1441(a)

because: (i) Defendant is actively doing business in this State and is subject to personal

jurisdiction throughout the State; (ii) Defendant transacts business in the State and in the District

by and through the collection of consumer debts in this State and District; and (iii) a substantial

part of the acts, transactions, events and/or omissions giving rise to the claims occurred in this

District. Venue is also proper in this District because the Plaintiff has resided in this District at

all times relevant to these claims as such that a substantial part of the events giving rise to the

claims occurred in the District.
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THE TELEPHONE CONSUMER PROTECTION ACT OF 1991
(“TCPA”), 47 U.S.C. § 227 AND THE HEALTH INSURANCE PORTABILITY AND

ACCOUNTABILITY ACT (“HIPAA”), PUB.L.NO. 104-191, 100 STAT. 1936 (AUG. 21, 1996), 
42 U.S.C. §§ 1320D-1320D-8

7. In 1991,  Congress enacted the Telephone Consumer Protection Act, 47 U.S.C. § 2271

(TCPA), in response to a growing number of consumer complaints regarding certain

telemarketing practices.

8. The TCPA regulates, among other things, the use of automated telephone equipment, or

“autodialers.”  Specifically, the plain language of section 227(b)(1)(A)(iii) prohibits the use of

autodialers to make any call to a wireless number in the absence of an emergency or the prior

express consent of the called party.2

9. According to findings by the Federal Communication Commission (“FCC”), the agency

Congress vested with authority to issue regulations implementing the TCPA, such calls are

prohibited because, as Congress found, automated or prerecorded telephone calls are a greater

nuisance and invasion of privacy than live solicitation calls, and such calls can be costly and

inconvenient.  The FCC also recognized that wireless customers are charged for incoming calls

whether they pay in advance or after the minutes are used.3

10. The Federal Communications Commission has defined a “predictive dialer” as:

equipment that dials numbers and, when certain computer software is attached,
also assists telemarketers in predicting when a sales agent will be available to take
calls.  The hardware, when paired with certain software, has the capacity to store
or produce numbers and dial those numbers at random, in sequential order, or

       Telephone Consumer Protection Act of 1991, Pub. L. No. 102-243, 105 Stat. 2394 (1991), codified at 47
1

U.S.C. § 227 (TCPA).  The TCPA amended Title II of the Communications Act of 1934, 47 U.S.C. § 201 et seq.

        47 U.S.C. § 227(b)(1)(A)(iii).
2

        Rules and Regulations Implementing the Telephone Consumer Protection Act of 1991, CG Docket No. 02-
3

278, Report and Order, 18 FCC Rcd 14014 (2003).
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from a database of numbers . . . [i]n most cases, telemarketers program the
numbers to be called into the equipment, and the dealer calls them at rate to
ensure that when a consumer answers the phone, a sales person is available to
take the call.   4

Moreover, the FCC has determined that a “predictive dialer falls within the meaning and

statutory definition of ‘automatic telephone dialing equipment’ and the intent of Congress.”   5

11. Under the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act, Pub.L.No. 104-191, 100

Stat. 1936 (Aug. 21, 1996), 42 U.S.C. §§ 1320d-1320d-8 (“HIPAA”) a patient’s telephone 

number is considered Personal Health Information (“PHI”).

12. Under HIPAA, a debt collector to whom a health care provider assigns a debt for

collection becomes a business associate of the health care provider /creditor.

13. The U.S. Department of Health and Human Services has commented on HIPAA’s

privacy requirements regarding health care providers sharing PHI for payment purposes as

follows:

These provisions do not eliminate a covered entity’s responsibility to apply the
Privacy Rule’s minimum necessary provisions to both the disclosure of and
request for information for payment and health care operations purposes. In
addition, the Department continues to strongly encourage the use of de-identified
information wherever feasible.

Standards for Privacy of Individually Identifiable Health Information, 67 FR 14776, 14783

(proposed March 27, 2002) (to be codified at 45 C.F.R. pt. 160 and 164).

14. Under HIPAA, the de-identification of PHI includes the removal of the individual’s

telephone number. 45 C.F.R. § 164.514 (b)(2)(i)(D).

        2003 TCPA Order, 18 FCC Rcd at 14091, para. 131.
4

        In The Matter of Rules and Regulations Implementing the Telephone Consumer Protection Act of 1991, CG
5

Docket No. 02-278, citing to 2003 TCPA Order, 18 FCC Rcd at 14093, para. 133.
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15. HIPAA contains a “minimum necessary” requirement for the amount of PHI that may be

disclosed or used as follows:

(d)(1) Standard: Minimum necessary requirements. In order to comply with
§164.502(b) and this section, a covered entity must meet the requirements of
paragraphs (d)(2) through (d)(5) of this section with respect to a request for, or
the use and disclosure of, protected health information.

* * *

(d)(3) Implementation specification: Minimum necessary disclosures of protected
health information.

(i) For any type of disclosure that it makes on a routine and recurring
basis, a covered entity must implement policies and procedures (which
may be standard protocols) that limit the protected health information
disclosed to the amount reasonably necessary to achieve the purpose
of the disclosure.

45 C.F.R. §164.514(d)(1), (d)(3)(i) (emphasis added).

16. The minimum amount of PHI reasonably necessary to contact a consumer to demand

payment does not include the consumer’s telephone number.  See, e.g., 15 U.S.C. § 1692g(a)(1)-

(5) (within 5 days after the initial communication the debt collector must “send the consumer a

written notice” containing the required disclosures.) (emphasis added).

17. The minimum amount of PHI reasonably necessary for an attorney to file a collection

suit on behalf of the attorney’s creditor client against the debtor does not require the attorney to

obtain or use the debtor’s telephone number.

18. Health care provider’s HIPAA Notice of Privacy Rights do not generally inform the

consumer that the telephone number they provide to it will be disclosed to a debt collector.  See,

e.g., The University of Chicago Medical Center, Notice of Privacy Practices, p. 2 (May 27,

2007) (emphasis in the original) (The HIPAA Privacy Notice informs the patient that their PHI

would be used and shared, “[f]or example, we may share your PHI to request payment and
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receive payment from Medicare, Medicare, your health insurer, HMO, or other company or

program that arranges or pays the cost of some or all of your health care (“Your Payor”) and to

confirm that Your Payor will pay for health care.  As another example, we may share your PHI

with the person who you told us is primarily responsible for paying for your Treatment, such as

your spouse or parent.”).

19. Because a patient’s telephone number does not constitute the minimum amount of PHI

necessary for the collection of a debt, it is a violation of HIPPA for this information to be

provided to a debt collector.  A patient’s telephone number should never be provided to a debt

collector by a medical provider; therefore, a debt collector collecting medical debt can never

obtain consent to contact a patient on his or her cellular telephone using automated dialing

equipment by and through the original creditor.  In effect, HIPPA makes it impossible for a

patient/debtor to consent to be contacted on his or her cellular telephone by and through the use

of automated dialing equipment. 

FACTS RELATED TO PLAINTIFF HERMAN SCOTT CONRAD           

20. On or about November 2, 2009, FCSI sent Plaintiff a notice that a debt in the amount of

$150.00 had been assigned to it for collection by Marcum and Wallace Hospital.  The debt arose

from an alleged unpaid balance for medical services rendered to Plaintiff by the Hospital’s

emergency department.  Around that same time FCSI began making calls to Plaintiff’s cellular

telephone number using an automatic dialing system without the prior express consent of

Plaintiff.  FCSI obtained this telephone number directly from Marcum and Wallace Hospital.

21. At the time the calls were made, FCSI could have determined that the telephone number

that was being dialed to contact Plaintiff was a cellular telephone number.  See, e.g., In re Rules

and Regulations Implementing the Telephone Consumer Protection Act of 1991 Request of ACA
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International for Clarification and Declaratory Ruling, GC Docket No. 02-278, p. 9 n. 54 (Jan 4,

2008) (“See 2003 TCPA Order, 18 FCC Rcd at 14117, para. 170.  See also DMA Wireless

Number Suppression List at http://preference.the-dma.org/products/wireless.shtml.  Neustar also

has available a service that provides data on numbers ported from wireline to wireless service on

a daily basis.  See http://www.tcpacompliance.com/.”).

22. In November of 2009, Plaintiff called and spoke to a representative of FCSI and stated:

(1) the company was calling Plaintiff’s cellular telephone number; (2) the debt collector did not

have Plaintiff’s express consent to be calling his cellular telephone number; (3) that Plaintiff did

not consent to having the debt collector make calls to his cellular telephone number; (4) that

FCSI needed to note in its records that the number it was calling was Plaintiff’s cellular

telephone number and that he did not consent to having FCSI make calls to his cellular telephone

number; and (5) that FCSI should cease making calls to Plaintiff’s cellular telephone number.  

23. Despite Plaintiff’s express denial of any consent to call his cellular telephone number and

his specific  instruction to FCSI to cease making calls to his cellular telephone number, FCSI

continued making calls to Plaintiff’s cellular telephone number using its automatic telephone

dialing system.

24. Because the telephone calls to Plaintiff’s cell phone continued, the Plaintiff again

contacted  FCSI and spoke with “Joy” who identified herself as a debt collector and manager

with FCSI.  In that conversation, Plaintiff explained that FCSI was continuing to make calls to

his cellular telephone number despite the fact that he had not consented to such calls and the fact

that he had instructed FCSI to stop calling his cellular telephone number.  In response to

Plaintiff’s demand that FCSI cease calling his cellular telephone number, Joy, FCSI’s manager,

stated “we continue to call until we have zero balance . . .” and “pay your bill and then the calls
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will cease.”     

25. From November of 2009 (when Plaintiff first informed FCSI it did not have his consent

to call his cellular telephone and instructed FCSI to stop calling his cellular telephone number)

through January 2010, FCSI made numerous calls to Plaintiff’s cellular telephone number using

an automatic telephone dialing machine.  Each of these calls constitutes a violation of 28

U.S.C.A. § 227 (b)(1)(A)(iii).

26. The above-described calls made to Plaintiff by FCSI each constituted an attempt to

collect a medical debt that was in default.

27. Under HIPAA, Plaintiff’s telephone number is considered PHI.

28. Under HIPAA, FCSI is a business associate of Plaintiff’s health care provider/creditor.

29. Under HIPAA, Plaintiff had the reasonable expectation that his PHI (his telephone

number) would not be provided to a business associate, FCSI, for payment purposes.

30. Because HIPAA prohibits the provision of a patient’s telephone number to a debt

collector, a medical debt collector cannot receive express consent to contact a debtor regarding a

medical debt solely by and through the original creditor.

31. In addition to making unauthorized telephone calls to Plaintiff’s cellular telephone

number, FCSI sent him form collection letters.  One such letter,sent on or about December 8,

2009, included the following statement:

BEWARE, OUR CLIENT, PENDING NOTIFICATION, MAY AUTHORIZE A
LAW FIRM TO FILE A CIVIL LAWSUIT AGAINST YOU. THIS LAWSUIT,
IF FILED WILL BE IN THE JURISDICTION WHERE YOU CAN BE FOUND
TO BE SERVED. 

ALSO BE ADVISED TO AVOID THE POSSIBILITY OF INCURRING
COURT COST, IF ALLOWED, THIS DEBT MUST PAID IN FULL.

THE AMOUNT OF YOUR DEBT, CLIENTS, AND CIVIL LAWS IN YOUR
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JURISDICTION MAY ALLOW SUIT TO BE FILED ON YOUR CASE. CALL
(888) 215-8962 IF YOU WANT TO KNOW IF YOU ARE GOING TO BE
SUED . . . .  

ANY ATTORNEY RETAINED BY THIS FIRM WILL MEET THE
REQUIRED QUALIFICATIONS TO PURSUE ALL MEANS NECESSARY TO
RESOLVE THIS DEBT. 

In the upper right hand corner the form letter references “Case No. 01-015589695.”

See, Exhibit “A,” attached. 

32. Another form collection letter was sent by Defendant FCSI to Plaintiff on or about

January 5, 2010.  This form letter included the following statements:

LITIGATION IS COSTLY!

. . . THE OFFICER OF THE COURT AND THE COURT MUST BE PAID FOR THE SERVICES

THEY RENDER AND ALL SUCH COSTS MAY BE CHARGED TO YOU BY THE COURT IF A

JUDGEMENT IS ENTERED. HOWEVER WE SELDOM RESORT TO LITIGATION IF YOU ACT

IN GOOD FAITH. AT THIS TIME THERE HAS BEEN NO CIVIL ACTION FILED OR

JUDGMENT OBTAINED. TO PAY IN FULL IMMEDIATELY YOU MAY CALL OUR PAY

ANYTIME LINE . . . . 

This form letter also makes reference to “Case No. 01-015589695.”  See, Exhibit “B,” attached. 

33. Neither FCSI nor its client, Marcum and Wallace Hospital, file suit on such a small

amount, and FCSI never intended to file suit or to seek to recover court costs at the time that

these form collection letters were sent. Upon information and belief, FCSI sends similar letters

for other creditors when neither FCSI nor the creditor has any intent to pursue litigation against

the debtor.

CLASS ALLEGATIONS

34. This action is maintained as a class action on behalf of the following described classes

(hereinafter collectively referred to as “the Classes”):

TCPA Class: All persons who reside within the United States and who were
called by Franklin Collection Services, Inc., using an automatic telephone dialing
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system where the call was placed to the person's cellular telephone number from
November 1, 2006 though the present, in an attempt to collect a medical debt, and
where Franklin Collection Service, Inc.’s records show that it obtained the
person’s cellular telephone number from that person's health care provider.
Excluded from the class are persons who Defendant’s records show that they gave
consent directly to Defendant to call their cellular telephone number  prior to
Defendant first placing a call with its automatic telephone dialing system.

FDCPA Class: All persons from whom, on or after November 1, 2009, Franklin
Collection Services, Inc. sought to collect, or did collect, a consumer debt less
than or equal to $500 and to whom Franklin Collection Services, Inc. sent a letter
or notice in the form represented by either Exhibit “A” or Exhibit “B” in
connection with the collection of such debt.  This class is geographically limited
to persons who reside in the following ZIP codes:

75001,75180, 75080, 75006, 75011, 75104, 75106, 75211, 75159, 75019, 75099,
75201, 75202, 75203, 75204, 75205, 75206, 75207, 75208, 75209, 75210, 75211,
75212, 75214, 75215, 75216, 75217, 75218, 75219, 75220, 75221, 75222, 75223,
75224, 75225, 75226, 75227, 75228, 75229, 75230, 75231, 75232, 75233, 75234,
75235, 75236, 75237, 75238, 75239, 75240, 75241, 75242, 75243, 75244, 75245,
75246, 75247, 75248, 75249, 75250, 75251, 75252, 75253, 75258, 75260, 75261,
75262, 75263, 75264, 75265, 75266, 75267, 75270, 75275, 75277, 75283, 75284,
75285, 75286, 75287, 75294, 75295, 75301, 75303, 75310, 75312, 75313, 75315,
75320, 75323, 75326, 75336, 75339, 75342, 75346, 75350, 75353, 75354, 75355,
75356, 75357, 75359, 75360, 75363, 75364, 75367, 75368, 75370, 75371, 75372,
75373, 75374, 75376, 75378, 75379, 75380, 75381, 75382, 75386, 75387, 75388,
75389, 75390, 75391, 75392, 75393, 75394, 75395, 75396, 75397, 75398, 75115,
75123, 75115, 75116, 75137, 75138, 75234, 75244, 75040, 75041, 75042, 75043,
75044, 75045, 75046, 75047, 75048, 75049, 75050, 75051, 75052, 75053, 75054,
75323, 75205, 75141, 75014, 75015, 75016, 75017, 75037, 75038, 75039, 75060,
75061, 75062, 75063, 75084, 75253, 75134, 75146, 75149, 75150, 75180, 75181,
75182, 75185, 75187, 75283, 75099, 75080, 75081, 75082, 75083, 75085, 75030,
75088, 75089, 75048, 75159, 75368, 75098, 75182, 75205, 75205, 75172, 75098,
75132, 75032, 75087, 75189.

Neither of the above Classes include any employees of Franklin Collection
Services, Inc. or the judges assigned to this action or their relatives.

35. The above unlawful practices are FCSI’s routine procedures for collecting consumer

debts.

36. The collection or attempted collection of consumer debts in the aforementioned manner

violates both federal and state laws.
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37. The unlawful actions of FCSI directly, foreseeably, and proximately caused Plaintiff and

Class Members injuries, and they are entitled to reasonable compensation for such injuries.

38. The members of the Classes for whose benefit this action is brought are so numerous that

joinder of all Class Members is impracticable. The exact numbers of each of the Classes are

unknown to Plaintiff.  However, the numbers of the Class Members are reasonably believed to

be in the thousands, and they can be determined from records maintained by FCSI.

39. Plaintiff will fairly and adequately protect the interests of the Classes and has retained

counsel experienced and capable in class action litigation and in the fields of debt collection and

consumer law.  Plaintiff understands and appreciates his duties to the Classes under FED. R. CIV.

P. Rule 23 and is committed to vigorously protecting the rights of absent members of the

Classes.

40. Plaintiff is asserting claims that are typical of the claims of each member of the Classes

he seeks to represent, in that FCSI engaged in the collection and/or attempted collection of debts

from the Plaintiff in the same manner as those in the Classes he seeks to represent. All claims

alleged on behalf of the Classes flow from this conduct. Further, there is no conflict between

Plaintiff and the members of the Classes with respect to this action.

41. There is a well-defined community of interest in the questions of law and fact involved

affecting the parties to be represented. Questions of law and fact arising out of FCSI's conduct

are common to all members of the Classes, and such common issues of law and fact predominate

over any questions affecting only individual members of the Classes. Common issues of law and

fact include, but are not limited to, the following:

a. Whether, beginning on November 1, 2006, FCSI made calls to Plaintiff and Class
members’ cellular telephones using an automatic telephone dialing system;
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b. Whether HIPAA prohibits a medical provider from furnishing a patient’s
telephone number to a debt collector such as FCSI;

c. Whether express consent is vitiated by HIPAA in the instance when a medical
provider furnishes a patient’s telephone number to a debt collector such as FCSI;

d. Whether such practice violates the TCPA;

e. Whether FCSI’s conduct was knowing and willful;

f. Which services or processes did FCSI employ to obtain class members’ cellular
telephone numbers; 

g. Which technologies or services were available to FCSI to enable it to differentiate
between wireless numbers and wireline numbers;  

h. Is FCSI a debt collector as defined by the Texas Debt Collection Act and the Fair
Debt Collection Practices Act;

i. Do FSCI’s actions constitute a violation of 15 U.S.C.A. § 1692e?

j. Do FSCI’s actions constitute a violation of TEX. FIN. CODE § 392.304(19);

k. Whether FSCI is liable for damages and the amount of such damages; and

l. Whether FSCI should be enjoined from engaging in such conduct in the future.

42. The relief sought is common to the entirety of the Classes.

43. FCSI has acted on grounds generally applicable to the Classes, thereby making formal

declaratory relief or corresponding injunctive relief appropriate with respect to the Classes as a

whole.

44. This action is properly maintained as a class action in that the prosecution of separate

actions by individual members would create a risk of adjudication with respect to individual

members which would establish incompatible standards of conduct for FCSI.

45. This action is properly maintained as a class action in that the prosecution of separate

SECOND AM ENDED CLASS ACTION COM PLAINT Page 12

Case 3:10-cv-02196-M   Document 27    Filed 11/30/11    Page 12 of 21   PageID 225



actions by individual members of the Classes would create a risk of adjudications with respect to

individual members of the Classes which would, as a practical matter, be dispositive of the

interests of the other members not parties to the adjudication, or would substantially impair or

impede their ability to protect their interests.

46. A class action is superior to other available methods for the fair and efficient adjudication

of the claims asserted herein given that, among other things:

a. significant economies of time, effort, and expense will inure to the benefit of the
Court and the parties in litigating the common issues on a class-wide instead of a
repetitive individual basis;

b. the size of the individual damages claims of most members of the Classes is too
small to make individual litigation an economically viable alternative, such that
few members of the Classes have any interest in individually controlling the
prosecution of a separate action;

c. without the representation provided by Plaintiffs herein, few, if any, members of
the Classes will receive legal representation or redress for their injuries;

d. class treatment is required for optimal deterrence;

e. despite the relatively small size of the claims of many individual members of the
Classes, their aggregate volume, coupled with the economies of scale inherent in
litigating similar claims on a common basis, will enable this case to be litigated as
a class action on a cost effective basis, especially when compared with repetitive
individual litigation;

f. no unusual difficulties are likely to be encountered in the management of this
class action;

g. Plaintiff and the members of the Classes have all suffered irreparable harm and
damages as a result of FCSI’s unlawful and wrongful conduct;

h. absent a class action, FCSI will likely retain hundreds of thousands – perhaps
millions – of dollars received as a result of its wrongdoing, and its illegal conduct
shall go unremedied and uncorrected; and

i. absent a class action, the members of the Classes will not receive compensation,
will continue to suffer losses, and FCSI will be allowed to retain the proceeds of
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its ill-gotten gains.

47. Concentrating this litigation in one forum would aid judicial economy and efficiency,

promote parity among the claims of the individual members of the class, and result in judicial

consistency.

COUNT ONE

Negligent Violations of the Telephone Consumer Protection Act 47 U.S.C.A. § 227 et seq.

48. Plaintiff incorporates by reference the foregoing paragraphs of this Complaint as if fully

set forth herein.

49. The Telephone Consumer Protection Act, 47 U.S.C. § 227 restricts the making of

telephone calls to cellular phones for commercial purposes that are made using “any automatic

telephone dialing system” TCPA § 227(b)(A)(iii).

50. Defendant made telephone calls to plaintiff’s cell phone using an automatic telephone

dialing service without consent which was prohibited by the TCPA.

51. FCSI is a member of ACA International, the Association of Credit and Collection

Professionals (“ACA”).

52. The ACA has published a guide that is available to its members that discusses HIPAA in

the context of the FDCPA.  ACA International’s Guide to the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act,

Volume One: Professional Practices, 24.2 Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act,

pp. 193-197 (2009/10 Edition) (the “ACA publication”).

53. The ACA publication makes it clear that the debt collector when using PHI provided to it

must use reasonable efforts to “limit the information used or disclosed to the minimum

necessary to accomplish the intended purpose of the disclosure.”  Id. p. 194 (emphasis added).
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54. FCSI negligently disregarded HIPAA by not complying with the Act’s minimum

necessary standard.

55. Because of HIPAA, no express consent was given to FCSI to use automated telephone

dialing equipment to call Plaintiff’s and the class’ respective cellular telephone numbers for

collection purposes.

56. FCSI negligently disregarded the TCPA in using automated telephone dialing equipment

to call Plaintiff’s and the class’ cellular telephones without express consent.

57. The foregoing acts and omissions of FCSI constitute numerous and multiple negligent

violations of the TCPA, including but not limited to each of the above cited provisions of 47

U.S.C. § 227 et seq.

58. As a result of FCSI’s negligent violations of 47 U.S.C. § 227 et seq., Plaintiff and TCPA

Class members are entitled to an award of $500.00 in statutory damages for each and every call

in violation of the statute pursuant to 47 U.S.C. § 227(b)(3)(B).

59. Plaintiff and TCPA Class members are also entitled to and do seek injunctive relief

prohibiting Defendant FCSI’s violation of the TCPA in the future.

60. Plaintiff and TCPA Class members are also entitled to an award of attorneys’ fees and

costs.

SECOND COUNT

Knowing and/or Willful Violations of the Telephone Consumer Protection Act, 
47 U.S.C.A. § 227 et seq.

61. Plaintiff incorporates by reference the foregoing paragraphs of this Complaint as if fully

set forth herein.

62. FCSI recklessly disregarded HIPAA by not complying with the Act’s minimum
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necessary standard.

63. Because of HIPAA, no express consent was given to FCSI to use Plaintiff’s and the

class’ respective cellular telephone numbers using automated telephone dialing equipment for

collection purposes.

64. FCSI recklessly disregarded the TCPA in using automated telephone dialing equipment

to call Plaintiff’s and the class’ cellular telephone without express consent.

65. The complained of conduct was willful.

66. The foregoing acts and omissions of FCSI constitute numerous and multiple knowing

and/or willful violations of the TCPA, including but not limited to each of the above-cited

provisions of 47 U.S.C. § 227 et seq.

67. As a result of FCSI’s knowing and/or willful violations of 47 U.S.C. § 227 et seq.,

Plaintiff and each member of the TCPA Class is entitled to treble damages of up to $1,500.00 for

each and every call in violation of the statute, pursuant to 47 U.S.C. § 227(b)(3).

68. Plaintiff and all TCPA Class members are also entitled to and do seek injunctive relief

prohibiting such conduct violating the TCPA by FCSI in the future.

69. Plaintiff and Class members are also entitled to an award of attorneys’ fees and costs.

COUNT THREE 

Violations of the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act

70. Plaintiff incorporates by reference the foregoing paragraphs of this Complaint as if fully

set forth herein.

71. The acts of FCSI constitute violations of the FDCPA.  See 15 U.S.C. § 1692 et seq.

72. FCSI is a debt collector as defined by the FDCPA.  See 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(6).
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73. Plaintiff is a consumer as defined by the FDCPA.  See 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(3).

74.  The debt that FCSI sought to collect was a consumer debt as defined by the FDCPA. 

See 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(5).

75. The FDCPA prohibits a debt collector from using false, deceptive, or misleading

representations or means in connection with the collection of a debt specifically including

making any “threat to take any action . . . that is not intended to be taken.”  See 15 U.S.C.

1692e(5).

76. FCSI’s form collection letters of December 8, 2009 and January 5, 2010 (Exhibits “A” &

“B”) violate § 1692e(5) of the FDCPA by falsely threatening, or even mentioning, litigation -

including a purported “Case Number” - when neither FCSI nor its client,  Marcum and Wallace

Hospital, intended to file suit or to seek to recover court costs from the Plaintiff.

77. FCSI’s described actions in violation of the FDCPA have directly and proximately

caused Plaintiff and Class Members' injury for which they now sue.

78. As a result of FCSI’s  violations of 15 U.S.C. § 1692e(5), Plaintiff and FDCPA Class

members are entitled to statutory damages.

79. Plaintiff and FDCPA Class members are also entitled to an award of attorneys’ fees and

costs.

COUNT FOUR      

Violations of the Texas Debt Collection Act

80. Plaintiff incorporates by reference the foregoing paragraphs of this Complaint as if fully

set forth herein.

81. The acts of FCSI constitute violations of the TDCA.  See TEX. FIN. CODE § 392.001 et
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seq.

82. FCSI is a debt collector and a third party debt collector as defined by the TDCA.  See

TEX. FIN. CODE §§ 392.001(6) & (7).

83. Plaintiff is a consumer as defined by the TDCA.  See TEX. FIN. CODE § 392.001(1).

84. The debt that FCSI sought to collect was a consumer debt as defined by the TDCA.  See

TEX. FIN. CODE § 392.001(2).

85. The TDCA prohibits a debt collector from using any using false representation or

deceptive means to collect a debt or obtain information concerning a consumer.  See TEX. FIN.

CODE § 392.304(19).

86. FCSI’s form collection letters of December 8, 2009 and January 5, 2010 (Exhibits “A” &

“B”), both of which included a purported “Case Number,” threaten Plaintiff with litigation at a

time that neither FCSI nor its client, Marcum and Wallace Hospital, intended to file suit or to

seek to recover court costs over the debt at issue.  See Exhibits “A” & “B.”  Such false

representations and deceptive means violate the TDCA.  See TEX. FIN. CODE § 392.304(19).

87. FCSI’s described actions in violation of the TDCA have directly and proximately caused

Plaintiff and Class Members’ injury for which they now sue. 

88. As a result of FCSI’s violations of the TDCA, Plaintiff and class members are entitled to

and do seek injunctive relief prohibiting such conduct by FCSI in the future.

89. Plaintiff and Class members are also entitled to an award of attorneys’ fees and costs.

VICARIOUS LIABILITY

90. At all times relevant hereto, the individual debt collectors who contacted, attempted to

contact, controlled or programed FCSI’s automatic telephone dialing system and/or spoke with
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Plaintiff and the Class Members, were employed by FCSI and were working in the course and

scope of their employment with FCSI. FCSI had the right to control their activities. Therefore,

FCSI is liable for their actions, inactions, and conduct which violated the TCPA, the FDCPA,

and the TDCA and proximately caused damages to Plaintiff and Class Members.

JURY REQUEST

91. Plaintiff requests that this matter be tried before a jury.

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff and the members of the Class pray that the Court enter

judgment in their favor against FCSI as follows:

a. Enter an order certifying this action as a class action pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P.
23(b)(2) and/or 23(b)(3).

b. Declaring:

i. FCSI’s actions violated the TCPA;
ii. FCSI’s actions violated the FDCPA;
iii. FCSI's actions violated the TDCA;

c. Awarding Plaintiff and Class Members punitive damages;

d. Awarding Plaintiff and Class Members statutory damages, including treble
damages under  47 U.S.C.A. § 227(b)(3);

e. Awarding Plaintiff and Class Members reasonable attorneys' fees, expenses and
costs; 

f. Enjoining FCSI from threatening litigation when it has no intention of filing a
lawsuit and from making calls to cellular telephone numbers using an automatic
dialing system without the express consent of the party being called; and  

g. Granting such other relief that equity and the law deems appropriate.

Dated: November 30, 2011 Respectfully submitted, 

John Howie, Jr.
HOWIE LAW, P.C.
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State Bar No. 240272239
4040 N. Central Expressway
Suite 850
Dallas, TX 75204
214.622.6340 
214.622.6341 - Facsimile
jhowie@howielaw.net 

OF COUNSEL:

LAW OFFICES OF BEN C. MARTIN, L.L.P.
Ben C. Martin 
State Bar No. 13052400
Thomas Wm. Arbon 
State Bar No. 01284275
2100 McKinney Avenue
Suite 1975
Dallas, TX 75201
214.761.6614
214.744.7590 - Facsimile
bmartin@bencmartin.com

/s/ Walt D. Roper
LAW OFFICES OF WALT D. ROPER, P.C.
Walt D. Roper
State Bar No. 00786208
3100 Monticello Avenue   
Suite 500
Dallas, Texas 75205
972.755.2525
214.378.6670 - Facsimile
walt@roperfirm.com

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that on November 30, 2011, I electronically filed Second Amended Class
Action Complaint with the Clerk of the Court using the CM/ECF system which will send
notification of such filing to all counsel of record. 

s/ Walt D. Roper                   
Walt D. Roper
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